201529

13

In the Supreme Court of the State of California

**ASSOCIATION OF CALIFORNIA
INSURANCE COMPANIES and
PERSONAL INSURANCE
FEDERATION OF CALIFORNIA,**

Plaintiffs and Respondents,

v.

**DAVE JONES in his capacity as
Commissioner of the California
Department of Insurance,**

Defendant and Appellant.

Case No.

SUPREME COURT
FILED

MAY 19 2015

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

Court of Appeal, Second Appellate Case No. B248622

Superior Court of California, County of Los Angeles

Case No. BC463124

Honorable Gregory W. Alarcon, Judge

PETITION FOR REVIEW

KAMALA D. HARRIS
Attorney General of California
PAUL D. GIFFORD
Senior Assistant Attorney General
DIANE S. SHAW
STEPHEN LEW

ISSUE PRESENTED

Did the Commissioner act within his statutory authority in promulgating regulations designed to prevent insurers from providing homeowners purchasing or renewing insurance policies with "replacement cost" estimates that the Commissioner reasonably concluded would be incomplete and potentially misleading?

WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

This case presents an issue of significant importance for the Commissioner and for homeowners across the State. For many, the home is their single most valuable asset, and they rely on insurance to protect it. More than 20 million homeowner insurance policies are issued in

California. The average California homeowner reasonably believes that the coverage limit of a “replacement cost” policy, derived from replacement cost estimates provided by insurers, will be sufficient to completely rebuild the home if it is destroyed by a catastrophic event. In the wake of wildfires that swept through Southern California over the last decade, however, many homeowners discovered too late that their replacement cost insurance policies did not cover all the reasonable costs incurred in rebuilding their homes; among the many underinsured, only those who could afford to pay thousands of dollars out-of-pocket or secure additional financing could rebuild.

In response, the Commissioner promulgated California Code of Regulations, title 10, section 2695.183—the replacement cost regulation—exercising his authority to “promulgate reasonable rules and regulations, and amendments and additions thereto, as are necessary to administer this article [Article 6.5, Unfair Insurance Practices, Ins. Code, §§ 790-790.15].” (Ins. Code, § 790.10.)¹ The regulations are designed to prevent homeowners from being misled into underinsuring their homes by incomplete estimates that fail to consider all the costs reasonably expected to be incurred in rebuilding. The regulation requires an insurer to consider a list of minimum costs and factors in estimating replacement cost and to

¹ All statutory references are to the Insurance Code unless otherwise noted.

provide a written itemized estimate to the homeowner, and specifies that providing an incomplete estimate of replacement cost is the making of a misleading statement defined as a prohibited act or practice under section 790.03, subdivision (b) (prohibiting, among other things, “any statement . . . which is untrue, deceptive, or misleading, and which is known, or which by the exercise of reasonable care should be known, to be untrue, deceptive, or misleading”).

The court of appeal struck down the regulation, concluding that the Commissioner had exceeded his statutory authority in promulgating the replacement cost rule, and that the existence of the Commissioner’s other separate and independent statutory powers, such as his power to institute enforcement proceedings, suggest that his rulemaking powers in this area are limited. (Opn., pp. 23-25.)

Absent review, the appellate court’s opinion threatens harm to the Commissioner’s ability to provide clear rules and a level playing field for all insurers marketing replacement cost insurance, and to protect the public against misleading practices that result in unknowing underinsurance. The Court should grant review to settle questions related to the Commissioner’s rulemaking power in this area and to clarify that his rulemaking authority in this area is separate and distinct from his other statutory powers and authorities under the Unfair Insurance Practices Act.

SUMMARY OF THE FACTS AND OF THE COURT OF APPEAL'S OPINION

The Unfair Insurance Practices Act vests the Commissioner with broad powers to regulate insurance trade practices in California. (§ 790.) Section 790.03 of the Act generally defines a number of unfair methods of competition and unfair or deceptive acts or practices that are prohibited, including the making and dissemination of untrue, deceptive or misleading statements under subdivision (b). The Act provides the Commissioner with a number of separate but complementary procedural powers and tools to stop or to prevent unfair or deceptive insurance trade practices.

Section 790.04 empowers the Commissioner to examine and investigate the business affairs of any person to determine compliance with the Act. The Commissioner may bring enforcement actions under section 790.05 against any person alleged to have engaged in a defined prohibited act or practice. Upon a finding that the person has engaged in prohibited conduct, the Commissioner may assess monetary penalties under section 790.035 and may enjoin the conduct.

Further, section 790.06 permits the Commissioner to initiate an administrative proceeding against a person suspected of engaging in any act or practice that is unfair or deceptive, but is not defined as one under section 790.03. After an administrative hearing, the Commissioner must issue a report declaring the act or practice to be unfair or deceptive. The

Commissioner cannot assess monetary penalties or order the conduct to cease as he can in an enforcement action under section 790.05. He must instead apply to the superior court for an injunction.

Section 790.10 vests the Commissioner with rulemaking authority to promulgate reasonable rules and regulations necessary to the administration of the Act. In delegating rulemaking authority to the Commissioner, the Legislature intended for him to make specific and definite the broad provisions of the prohibited acts or practices defined in section 790.03 ““for the benefit of the public without having to wait for the Legislature to act at a later date.”” (Opn., pp. 28-29 [citing Assem. Com. on Finance and Insurance, summary of Assem. Bill No. 1353 (1971 Reg. Sess.) p. 1].)

The Commissioner promulgated regulations to ensure that homeowners receive from insurers complete information about estimates of replacement costs so they can make informed decisions in selecting appropriate coverage limits. (Opn., p. 6.) One regulation, California Code of Regulations, title 10, section 2695.183, requires the insurer to consider a list of factors and minimum cost components that would reasonably be incurred to rebuild a home. (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 10, § 2695.183, subds. (a)-(e).) The regulation requires insurers to provide a written itemized estimate to the homeowner. (*Id.*, subd. (g).) The regulation further defines as misleading, under section 790.03, subdivision (b), an insurer’s

communication of a replacement cost estimate that has not considered these minimum costs. (*Id.*, subd. (j).)

Two insurance trade associations, Association of California Insurance Companies and Personal Insurance Federation of California, brought a declaratory relief action challenging the validity of the regulation. The trade associations argued that the Commissioner had narrow rulemaking authority under section 790.10 and was required instead to comply with the procedural requirements of section 790.06 to establish the communication of incomplete estimates of replacement cost as a new unfair or deceptive practice.² They, however, did not contest the necessity of the regulation or that the basic costs components identified in the regulation should not be considered in estimating replacement cost. (Opn., pp. 8-15.)

The Commissioner responded that, under section 790.10, he could by regulation make definite and specific a particular type of misleading statement falling under the general prohibition against misleading statements in section 790.03, subdivision (b), and that section 790.06 does not supplant his rulemaking authority. (Opn., pp. 15-16.) Following a court trial, the trial court declared the regulation invalid.

² The trade associations additionally contended that the regulation impacts insurance underwriting and infringes on insurers' right to free speech. Neither the trial court nor the Court of Appeal reached the merits of those two issues. (Opn., pp. 18, 31.)

In a published opinion, the Court of Appeal affirmed. The Court of Appeal found the Act defines unfair or deceptive acts or practices and none of those definitions involve the content and format of replacement cost estimates. The Court of Appeal inferred “that the absence of a provision regarding replacement cost estimates was a deliberate choice” by the Legislature. (Opn., p. 23.) It thus concluded that “the Commissioner did not have authority to add content and format requirements for replacement cost estimates in homeowner insurance to the list of practices set forth in section 790.03 under the guise of deeming nonconforming estimates misleading under section 790.03, subdivision (b).” (*Ibid.*)

The Court of Appeal also rejected the Commissioner’s argument that an incomplete cost estimate is a type of misleading statement under section 790.03, subdivision (b). It reasoned that the regulation would be unnecessary in that case because the Commissioner could already enforce it in a proceeding under section 790.05. The Court of Appeal also held that the Commissioner’s reasoning renders section 790.06 superfluous because the Commissioner could always promulgate a regulation to declare a particular conduct misleading. (Opn., pp. 24-25.) The appellate court distinguished *Ford Dealers Association v. Department of Motor Vehicles* (1982) 32 Cal.3d 347, purportedly because it presented a different statutory scheme with the notable absence of a statute similar to section 790.06. (Opn., pp. 26-28.)

The Court of Appeal acknowledged that the legislative history of section 790.10 may support the Commissioner's position that he could promulgate the regulation. However, the court determined that subsequent additions to section 790.03 adding the Unfair Claims Settlement Practices Act (section 790.03, subd. (h)), as well as statutes mandating disclosures for homeowner insurance policies (sections 10101-10107), are inconsistent with the original legislative intent. (Opn., pp. 28-29.)

LEGAL DISCUSSION

I. REVIEW IS NEEDED TO SETTLE WHETHER THE COMMISSIONER HAS AUTHORITY TO ADOPT REGULATIONS PREVENTING INSURANCE COMPANIES FROM PROVIDING MISLEADINGLY INCOMPLETE INFORMATION.

The Commissioner has traditionally been afforded "broad discretion to adopt rules and regulations as necessary to promote the public welfare." (*Calfarm Ins. Co. v. Deukmejian* (1989) 48 Cal.3d 805, 824; see *State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. Garamendi* (2004) 32 Cal.4th 1029, 1040 [citing *Calfarm*].) The absence of a specific provision in the enabling statute about the subject or content of a regulation does not deprive an enforcement agency of the authority to promulgate regulations. (*Credit Ins. General Agents Ass'n of California, Inc. v. Payne* (1976) 16 Cal.3d 651, 656.) The statutory omission only means that the Legislature "may elect to defer to and rely upon the expertise of administrative agencies...." (*Ibid.*)

This rule applies with great force to regulations enacted pursuant to remedial statutes intended to protect the public. A remedial statute should be “liberally construed ‘to effectuate its object and purpose, and to suppress the mischief at which it is directed.’” (*Ford Dealers Ass’n v. Department of Motor Vehicles, supra*, 32 Cal.3d at p. 356.) In such instances, an agency has the discretion to determine what specific acts or statements are misleading to the public and is authorized to enact regulations to prevent such misleading statements to “‘fill up the details’ of the statutory scheme.” (*Id.*, at pp. 362-363.)

The Court of Appeal’s opinion injects uncertainty into the application of these longstanding principles in the context of the marketing of replacement cost policies. Instead of permitting the Commissioner to “fill up the details” of the Act with a regulation clarifying the meaning of a misleading statement, the Court of Appeal erroneously concluded that additional statutory enforcement mechanisms indicated legislative intent to deprive the Commissioner of his rulemaking authority. The opinion narrowly construes the Act, using an unnecessarily rigid reading of section 790.03’s defined prohibited acts to conclude that, because the content and format of replacement cost estimates are not mentioned, they therefore can be inferred as excluded. (Opn., p. 23.) The Court of Appeal did not examine the object or purpose of the Act or determine whether an insurer’s incomplete replacement cost estimate can actually mislead a homeowner.

A complete replacement cost estimate that has considered the undisputed cost components listed in the regulation is required because homeowners often believe that a replacement cost estimate provided by an insurer would take into account these reasonable costs. If an estimate does not do so and is incomplete, then the homeowner would have relied on the insurer's estimate and be misled to select insufficient insurance coverage. Because the Court of Appeal's decision increases the risk that homeowners will again lack the protection previously provided by the regulation, and could create a market advantage for insurance companies who do not make the details of the estimate clear to consumers, this Court should review it.

II. REVIEW IS NECESSARY TO AFFIRM AND CLARIFY THAT THE COMMISSIONER'S RULEMAKING AUTHORITY IS NOT LIMITED BY HIS ADDITIONAL AUTHORITY UNDER THE UNFAIR INSURANCE PRACTICES ACT.

To support its erroneous conclusion that the Commissioner cannot regulate incomplete replacement cost estimates as a form of misleading statement, the Court of Appeal also looked to section 790.06, which permits formal administrative action against a person suspected of an unfair or deceptive insurance practice not defined in section 790.03. (Opn., pp. 24-25.) The Court of Appeal read section 790.06 as a limiting statute and used it to distinguish the Commissioner's authority to enact the challenged regulation from an agency's generally broad discretion to define misleading statements by regulation upheld in *Ford Dealers Association v. Department*

of Motor Vehicles, supra, 32 Cal.3d 347. (Opn., p. 26.) This Court should grant review and reject the Court of Appeal's novel approach to construing the Unfair Insurance Practices Act.

Section 790.06 sets forth formal administrative procedures for the Commissioner to prosecute unfair or deceptive acts or practices not defined in section 790.03. Unlike in a proceeding under section 790.05 to enforce a violation of a prohibited act or practice defined by section 790.03, the Commissioner cannot order an insurer to cease misleading practices that result in unknowing underinsurance or assess monetary penalties in a proceeding under section 790.06. (See § 790.035 [authorizing Commissioner to impose monetary penalties].) If the conduct continues, the Commissioner must apply to the superior court to enjoin the insurer. There is no suggestion in the Act that the procedure authorized by section 790.06, however, is intended to supplant rulemaking. Especially since that statute on its face only permits the Commissioner to act against a single insurer who is suspected of misleading homeowners with incomplete replacement cost estimates, it is properly viewed as a complement to, not a limitation of, the Commissioner's rulemaking authority.

The flaw in the Court of Appeal's view of the law can be seen in its application. Section 790.03, subdivision (b)'s definition of a misleading statement is broad. Under the Court of Appeal's analysis, an insurer can easily claim that a particular statement suspected to be misleading is not

specifically defined by section 790.03, subdivision (b), that the Commissioner cannot enforce or regulate it, and, thus, that the Commissioner is limited to use of the alternative procedures authorized by section 790.06, thereby allowing the insurer to escape civil penalties.

This Court should grant review and confirm the Commissioner's authority under section 790.10 extends to promulgating replacement policy regulations that clarify for the industry and consumers misleading practices prohibited by the Unfair Insurance Practices Act.