S226529

SUPREME COURT
FILED

IN THE SUPREME COURT
OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

JUN 08 2015

Frank A. McGuire Clerk
Deputy

DAVE JONES
in his capacity as commissioner of the California Department of
Insurance

Defendant and Appellant

v.

**ASSOCIATION OF CALIFORNIA INSURANCE COMPANIES and
PERSONAL INSURANCE FEDERATION OF CALIFORNIA**

Plaintiffs and Respondents

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal
Second Appellate District, Division One, Case No. B248622

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Gene Livingston - CA State Bar No. 44280
GREENBERG TRAUIG
1201 "K" Street, Suite 1100
Sacramento, California 95814
Telephone: (916) 442-1111

Attorneys for Plaintiffs and Respondents

I. INTRODUCTION

This Court need not review the Court of Appeal decision. No other decision conflicts with it. It involves no question of law requiring settlement by this Court.

In fact, the Court of Appeal applied only well-settled legal principles, principles relating to the standard of review and rules of statutory construction applicable to judicial review of agency regulations. Here, the Court of Appeal applied those principles to conclude that the plain language of the Unfair Insurance Practices Act¹ demonstrates the Legislature's intent that the Commissioner's authority to add to the statutory list of unfair insurance acts or practices is limited to an explicit administrative process and not by regulation.²

The Commissioner states in his Petition for Review that this decision is important to him. Of course it is, it defines his authority. It is also important to Plaintiffs and Respondents and other members of the insurance industry. They have a decision confirming that the Commissioner is obligated to follow the explicit statutory process detailed in the UIPA if he

¹ The UIPA is codified at Insurance Code sections 790 and following.

² The regulation involved in this case was adopted by Commissioner Poizner in 2010. It prohibits companies selling homeowner insurance from communicating estimates to homeowners of the cost to replace their homes unless the estimates are prepared and communicated in strict compliance with the detailed provisions of the regulation. Under the regulation, communicating an estimate not in compliance, no matter if it is totally accurate, is, as a matter of law, a misleading statement, and thus, an unfair insurance practice.

wants to expand the list of prohibited insurance business acts and practices. He cannot claim authority to “fill up the details of the statutory scheme” and expand the list by regulation.³ Significantly, the decision deals with a very unique statutory provision that is only one of many articles in the voluminous Insurance Code, and its importance is limited to that statute.

II. BACKGROUND

A. **The Unfair Insurance Practices Act.**

The UIPA, beginning with section 790⁴, provides, “[t]he purpose of this article is to regulate trade practices in the business of insurance...by defining, or providing for the determination of all such practices in this State which constitute . . . unfair or deceptive acts or practices and by prohibiting the trade practices so defined or determined.” The provisions in this section stating that the purpose of the article to regulate insurance by “defining” unfair acts or practices is implemented in section 790.03 and by providing for the determination of such acts or practices is implemented in section 790.06.

Section 790.03 provides, “[t]he following are hereby defined as unfair methods of competition and unfair and deceptive acts or practices in the business of insurance.” What follows are subdivisions (a) through (j),

³ He argues, regardless of what the statute says, he should have broad regulatory authority. Petition for Review, p. 9.

⁴ All references to statutes are to the Insurance Code unless otherwise stated.

defining numerous unfair acts or practices, including one subdivision that contains 16 subparagraphs. The unfair acts or practices referenced in section 790 as those “defined” are those listed by the Legislature in section 790.03.

Section 790.06 sets out the process for the Commissioner to “determine” whether other acts or practices should be prohibited as unfair. It provides, “[w]henever the Commissioner shall have reason to believe that any person...is engaging...in any act or practice...not defined in Section 790.03, and that...the act or practices is unfair or deceptive...he or she may issue and serve upon that person an order to show cause...for the purpose of determining whether the alleged...acts or practices...should be declared to be unfair or deceptive within the meaning of this article.”

In this case, the Commissioner expanded the list of acts or practices defined as unfair, but he did not do so pursuant to section 790.06 by issuing an order to show cause. Rather he did so by regulation, relying on section 790.10 for authority.⁵

The Court of Appeal reviewed the statutory language and concluded that the Commissioner’s authority to add to the list of prohibited acts or practices existed under section 790.06 but not under section 790.10, which simply authorizes the Commissioner to administer the article, not define or

⁵ Section 790.10 provides, “[t]he commissioner shall...promulgate reasonable rules and regulations...as are necessary to administer this article.”

declare new acts. Accordingly, it affirmed the trial court's judgment invalidating the regulation.

B. The Regulation.

The regulation invalidated by the Court of Appeal decision is California Code of Regulations, Title 10, section 2695.183. It provides, “[n]o licensee shall communicate an estimate of replacement cost to an applicant or insured in connection with an application for or renewal of a homeowner’s insurance policy that provides coverage on a replacement cost basis unless the requirements and standards set forth in subdivisions (a) through (e) below are met.”

The regulation goes on to require not just one estimate, but four separate estimates for (1) cost of labor, building materials and supplies, (2) overhead and profit, (3) cost of demolition and debris removal, and (4) cost of permits and architect’s plans. It also requires the estimate to contain a description of every feature of the home down to the flooring in each bathroom. It requires the four estimates and the description of every feature to be communicated in writing. The regulation requires insurers to update the method used to generate estimates at least annually.

Subdivision (j) of the regulation makes any communication of an estimate without complying fully with the detailed dictates of the regulation to be a violation of Insurance Code section 790.03, and thus an unfair practice. As a consequence, the Commissioner has amended section 790.03

by expanding the list of acts or practices that the Legislature defined as unfair.

C. The Court of Appeal Decision.

The Court of Appeal invalidated the regulation. It did so on the ground that the Legislature has specified the process for the Commissioner to address acts or practices not defined in section 790.03 that he nevertheless considers to be unfair through the order to show cause and administrative process spelled out in section 790.06. It is not by regulation; to do so by regulation would render section 790.06 meaningless and would be inconsistent with the Legislature's intent.

III. ARGUMENT

A. Review by this Court is Unnecessary.

Rule 8.500 of the California Rules of Court sets out two primary grounds for this Court to review a court of appeal decision, "to secure uniformity of decision or to settle an important question of law." The Commissioner asserts only the second ground as the basis for his petition. Certainly he cannot assert the first ground because no other decision conflicts with the Court of Appeal decision.

With respect to the second ground for review, the importance of the decision is limited to the fact that it resolves the conflict between the Commissioner and insurers concerning his authority to add to the list of acts or practices defined by the Legislature as unfair insurance practices in

section 790.03. In resolving that conflict, the Court of Appeal simply construed the UIPA by following well-settled legal principles enunciated by this Court in numerous cases over several decades. The decision raises no question of law that needs settling.

B. The Standard of Review and Rules of Statutory Construction Applied by the Court of Appeal are Well Settled.

The Court of Appeal quotes from this Court's decisions in *Western States Petroleum Assn. v. Board of Equalization* (2013) 57 Cal.4th 401 and *Twentieth Century Ins. Co. v. Garamendi* (1994) 8 Cal.4th 216. It states that whether a regulation is in conflict with the statute it purports to implement or is outside the agency's statutory authority is a matter of statutory construction, "a question of law on which a court exercises independent judgment." Decision, p. 18.⁶

Citing *Credit Ins. General Agents Assn. v. Payne* (1976) 16 Cal.3rd 651 at 656, the Court of Appeal states the well-settled principle that, "[t]he Commissioner has only the authority conferred on him by the Legislature." Decision, p.21. The Court of Appeal states that it deduces "that authority from the language of the statute itself by applying familiar maxims of statutory construction." *Ibid.*

The Court of Appeal cites *Day v. City of Montana* (2001) 25 Cal.4th

⁶ References to the Court of Appeal decision will be cited as Decision, p. ____.

268, 272 for the proposition that a court gives the statutory language its “plain meaning.” “Moreover, it is equally well-settled that fundamental rules of statutory construction require ascertainment of the legislative intent’ so as to effectuate the purpose of the law [and] every statute should be construed with reference to the whole system of law of which it is a part so that all may be harmonized and have effect.” (*Kaiser Steel Corp. v. County of Solano* (1979) 90 Cal.App. 3rd 662, 667) *Ibid.*

Finally the Court of Appeal states, to “[t]he extent a statute addresses one subject but not another, we assume that choice was deliberate under the principle of *expressio unius est exclusio alterius*. The expression of some things in a statute necessarily means the exclusion of other things not expressed.” (*Gikas v. Zolin* (1993) 6 Cal.4th 881, 852) *Ibid.*

C. Applying Well-Settled Principles of Law the Court of Appeal Concluded that the Regulation was Invalid.

The Court of Appeal examined the plain meaning of the UIPA. Section 790 provides that the purpose of the article is to regulate trade practices in the business of insurance “by defining, or providing for the determination of, ... unfair or deceptive acts or practices and by prohibiting the trade practices so defined or determined.” Section 790.02 provides that no person shall engage in any act or practice “which is defined in this article as, or determined pursuant to this article to be,” unfair or deceptive. The Legislature in these two sections makes explicit that it intends acts or

practices to be characterized as unfair or deceptive by two methods and only two methods, that is, those defined and those determined to be unfair or deceptive.

In section 790.03, the Legislature provides, “[t]he following are hereby defined as unfair . . . acts or practices in the business of insurance.”

In section 790.06, the Legislature sets out an explicit process for the Commissioner to determine an act or practice to be unfair or deceptive even though it is not defined as such in section 790.03

Over the years, the Legislature added to section 790.03 by defining additional acts or practices that were deemed to be unfair or deceptive.

However, the structure of the UIPA did not change.

In fact, the structure of the UIPA was not changed twelve years after its initial enactment when the Legislature in 1971 added section 790.10, authorizing the Commissioner to adopt regulations when necessary to administer the article. Nothing in section 790.10 changed the explicit language of sections 790, 790.02, 790.03, and 790.06. The two processes to characterize acts or practices as unfair or deceptive remain as the core of the UIPA.

The Legislature reserved to itself the authority to define additional acts or practices as unfair or deceptive. It left to the Commissioner the authority to determine whether acts or practices not defined by the Legislature should be characterized as unfair or deceptive through the

process spelled out in section 790.06.

The Court of Appeal correctly concluded that to construe section 790.10 as authorizing the Commissioner to characterize additional acts or practices as unfair or deceptive would be inconsistent with the purpose stated in section 790 and the explicit prohibition contained in section 790.02 and would render section 790.06 meaningless. Decision, p. 25.

The Court of Appeal bolstered its conclusion by other provisions “in the UIPA actually denominating the Commissioner’s powers. These focus on the Commissioner’s power to enforce existing prohibitions in the UIPA (sections 790.035, 790.04, 790.05, 790.07, 790.08).” The Court of Appeal states that these provisions read with sections 790.03 and 790.06 demonstrate that the Legislature did not give the Commissioner power to define by regulation acts or conduct not otherwise deemed unfair or deceptive in the statute.” Decision, p. 23

The Court of Appeal found further support in the legislative enactments that were made in response to claims of underinsurance following wildfires in the past. Decision, pp. 29-31. For example, the Legislature amended section 1729.85 in 2006 by authorizing the Insurance Commissioner to establish standards for the calculation of estimates of replacement value provided by real estate appraisers. While it could have, the Legislature did not authorize the Commissioner to impose such standards on insurance licensees. Decision, p. 29.

IV. CONCLUSION